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CONTACT INFORMATION: 
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3 Baron-Hay Court         
SOUTH PERTH  WA  6151   +61 (08) 9368 3333    cfo@agric.wa.gov.au  
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Locked Bag 4           
Bentley Delivery Centre WA  6983  +61 (08) 9474 2405    www.agric.wa.gov.au  
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE 

 

 
The Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC 
Minister for Agriculture and Food 
Level 11, Dumas House 
2 Havelock Street 
West Perth  WA  6005 
 
In accordance with Section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby submit for 
your information and presentation to Parliament, the Final Report of the Potato Marketing 
Corporation of Western Australia  (“Corporation”) for the period 1 July to 31 December 
2016. 
 
This Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Financial  
Management Act 2006, Treasurer’s Instructions and all relevant accounting standards. 
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Report framework 

 

The Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia was deregulated on 30th September 2016 and abolished on 31 December 2016. This 

final report presents an analysis of the Corporation’s performance and operations for the period 1 July to 31 December 2016 under the following 

three key categories:  

 

 Overview    

 A summary of what the Corporation does, its responsibilities, the organisational structure and key performance outcomes. 

 

 Agency performance 

 Highlighting the operational achievements for the period 1 July 2016 to 31 December 2016 and providing a comparison with  

    the desired outcomes.  

 

 Disclosures and legal compliance 

 Providing an analysis of audited financial statements and detailed financial disclosure.  
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Overview 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Section 1 - Overview 

1.1 Executive Summary 

Summary Overview 

The Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia was deregulated on the 30 September 2016 and abolished on               

31 December 2016. 

This is the final report of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia for the period from 1 July 2016 to 31 December 

2016. 
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1.2 Chairman’s Report 

 

The 2015-16 reporting year has been a period of challenge and change for the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western    
Australia. The State Government announced that it planned to deregulate the production and supply of ware potatoes in   
Western Australia by 2017. The Government announcement giving a two year period for adjustment provided an opportunity 
for the Corporation along with the Potato Growers Association (PGA) to develop plans for an orderly transition to a more open 
market on the production and  supply sides of the industry. 
 
The lead up to the announcement by Government was not surprising given the views of the Economic Regulation Authority  
towards deregulation.  The Corporation, supported by the work of ACIL Allen demonstrated a case for retention of the          
regulated system. The ACIL Allen Report was well received and praised for its objectivity. The Report clearly demonstrated 
that the overall cost of the Corporation was insignificant in State terms. Most importantly, the Report illustrated that consumers 
were not adversely affected by the operation of the regulated system. 
 
Within the policy environment the wider discussions towards deregulation were significant with the State Government also 
coming under pressure from the Commonwealth to demonstrate economic reforms in the areas of the taxi industry and the   
potato industry as part of the Commonwealth-State Fiscal Relationships. Whilst the majority of the industry, on the supply side, 
favoured the retention of the regulated system there was some agitation by parts of the industry to deregulate. 
 
The deregulation process resulted in the Corporation working alongside the PGA to engage consultants ACIL Allen to map out      
possible paths towards deregulation. This approach was chosen to eliminate duplication of effort by both bodies and carried a 
recognition that the industry represented by the PGA would be significantly affected by policy proposals arising from the      
consultants work.  
 

Ultimately two paths forward emerged. An earlier deregulation accompanied by a Government adjustment package or a slower 
phase out of regulation with no necessary adjustment package. It was considered by the Corporation’s Board and the PGA that 
an  earlier deregulation was preferred as a slower phase out would pose serious challenges for managing a regulated system 
with a risk for industry cohesion and social adjustment. 

Overview 
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The PGA worked hard alongside the Corporation’s team to consult industry on future pathways to industry management. This 
was a challenging environment for the Corporation as it meant continuing with the normal business of a regulated industry 
whilst engaging with growers who understood that the regulation was  going to cease in the near future. It says much for the 
Corporation’s staff and industry that this process has been largely smooth and effective. 
 
Meanwhile the Corporation’s Board has continued to support with legal action ongoing matters where it was considered that 
damage had been done to industry.  
 
The Corporation’s Board with Directors Sophie Dwyer, Basil Lenzo and Paul McKenzie and grower Directors  Darryl Smith and 
Glenn Ryan bring extensive knowledge of the primary industry and business sectors to the Corporation has worked hard  
alongside the CEO Peter Evans to manage in a constructive way the challenging path towards deregulation. The Government 
under successive Ministers Baston, Nalder and Lewis is to be congratulated for choosing a path of orderly change supported 
by a Grower Adjustment Package. The other option was to simply allow the regulatory system to erode and the Corporation to 
fade away. That option would have created significant disruption for industry and their communities. As a result of the Grower 
Adjustment Package the industry has been able to transition towards a deregulated environment with dignity and purpose. 
 
The process of transition was supported by other Parliamentarians such as the Hon Barry House MLC and Libby Mettam the 
Member for Vasse who committed themselves to supporting the industry, recognising that the industry plays an important role 
in the community and in providing high quality food. 
 
The marketing consumption campaign continued to focus on increasing consumer consumption and growing market share. 
Consumer research indicated the campaign had an impact with the WA statistics demonstrating levels of potato sales at trends 
above the national average. Interestingly the marketing campaign has also succeeded in establishing important price points for 
varieties such as Royal Blue. Analysis of marketing trends reveals capacity for gaining value within the premium end of the 
market as well as an interest by retailers in developing product lines for sale. 
 

The Seed For Schools programme continued and has been very successful in introducing new generations of children to the 
wonders of growing potatoes. The marketing programme along with the Seed For Schools element is expected to be continued 
in a modified form by the Potato Growers Association. 

 

Overview 
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The retail market changed significantly during the year with the introduction of the Aldi Supermarket chain into Western Australia 
resulting in more price competition with the established retailers. This has placed pressure on growers and is considered to be a 
portent of the future as growers adjust to a deregulated environment. 
 
The marketing campaign further used social media and partnerships with other food suppliers to increase its level of                
effectiveness and reach.  
 
Potato Research WA  continued its work on potato quality, variety, yield and disease that provides a key impetus to assist quality 
improvement for WA growers. Potato Research WA has identified agronomic and grower production issues that are being       
analysed and addressed. This centre is also establishing state, national and international relationships that will provide important 
linkages for the future. The CEO has established a new research project with Murdoch University for the establishment of a     
genome editing technology which enables researchers to enhance quality aspects of potato varieties through switching off target 
genes in pathways which generate undesirable traits. 
 
This Chairman's Report from the Corporation is the last in a process that began just after World War Two with the establishment 
of the Potato Marketing Corporation under the Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946. The Act was then intended to ensure a supply of       
potatoes to the domestic market in a climate of Post War scarcity. In successive generations the Corporation came to regulate 
the supply and distribution of potatoes.  It is an honour to have had the opportunity to be the Chair of an organisation that has 
done much to support the community of Western Australia including industry and consumers. I thank the staff of the Corporation 
and Board colleagues for their wonderful commitment to the purposes of the Corporation and the community. 
 
Dr Ron Edwards 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Overview 
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Enabling Legislation 

Responsible Minister 

1.3 Operational Structure 

The Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia was established under the Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946.  The Act and 

Regulations set out the functions of the Corporation and the framework within which it is to operate. This Act was repealed under 

the Marketing of Potatoes Amendment and Repeal Bill 2016, under which the State’s ware potato industry was deregulated and 

the Corporation abolished on 31 December 2016. 

The Corporation reports to the Hon Alannah MacTiernan MLC, Minister for Agriculture and Food. 

Section 20(a) of the Act gives the Minister the power to direct the Corporation in writing concerning the performance of its        

functions, either generally or with respect to a particular matter. 

Under Section 19(a) of the Act, a person aggrieved by a decision made by the Corporation in exercising its powers may apply to 

the State Administrative Tribunal for a review of the decision. 

Overview 
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Functions of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia 

The functions of the Corporation are defined in Section 17(a) of the Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946, being to: 

 Regulate the production of ware potatoes so as to ensure the supply of the quantities, varieties and qualities preferred by       

consumers in the State. 

 Take delivery of, and otherwise deal with, potatoes in accordance with this Act and market potatoes in the State and         

elsewhere.  

 Register persons who are to be authorised to carry on business as a commercial producer of potatoes and license the areas 

of land to be used in any such business. 

 Encourage and promote the use of potatoes and provide for the monitoring and, if thought fit, regulation of the production of 

potatoes for propagation or for any other prescribed kind of use. 

 Foster methods of production and adopt methods of marketing that will enable potatoes grown in the State to compete in 

price and quality against potatoes from alternative sources of supply. 

 Promote, encourage, fund and arrange for the conduct of research into matters relating to the production and marketing of 

potatoes and undertake market development. 

Overview 
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Under the Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946, the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia has the remit to  

efficiently and effectively manage the WA ware potato supply chain.  

The Operations division of the Corporation is responsible for the supply, quality, compliance, implementation and           

administration of the licensing protocols established under the Marketing of Potatoes Act.  

To achieve this, the Corporation aims at supply chain optimisation, which is ensuring supply matches consumer demand 

in terms of quality, quantity and varieties of fresh ware potatoes all year round.  

MISSION STATEMENT 

To provide leadership for the WA ware potato industry in meeting    

consumer demand via cost effective supply chain optimisation, category 

marketing and development and innovation. 

Overview 
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Organisational Chart 

Overview 
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1.4 The Board of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia 

The Board of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia has been disbanded following the repeal of the Marketing of  

Potatoes Act 1946 in September 2016. Whilst in operation the board consisted of a Chairman and members who have relevant 

commercial expertise in potato growing, finance, marketing or the food industry.   

The Board was responsible to the Minister for Agriculture and Food who appoints the Chairman and members, of whom two are 

elected by commercial potato producers under the Electoral Act 1907.    

The Chairman may hold office for up to five years and members for up to three years and are eligible to be re-appointed.  A 

member of the Board whose term of office expires shall, unless the office becomes vacant under section 13, continue in office 

until a successor comes into office (Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946, section 12(2)).    

Upon commencement of their term, Board members are given an Induction Manual that outlines the role and responsibilities of 

the Board.  When appointed to the Board, members undertake a solemn obligation to carry out their duties in a fair, open, honest 

and accountable way to the benefit of the Corporation and the community they serve. 

Overview 

The primary role of the Board is to: 

Set performance goals and risk agenda 

Ensure corporate compliance and management accountability 

Set strategic directions and endorse strategic plans 

Approve operating budgets 

Ensure that the Corporation has the resources necessary to achieve goals,    

monitor progress and report on outcomes  

In carrying out its role, the Board was subject to the provisions of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996 which         

requires members to act honestly, exercise reasonable care and diligence and not make improper use of information or its position. 
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Board Profiles 

Dr Ronald (Ron) Edwards (Chairman) 

Dr Edwards was appointed to the Board in June 2013. Dr Edwards  holds a Bachelor of Economics from the University of      

Western Australia, a Master of Education with honours from the University of Sydney and a Doctorate in Education from the      

University of Western Australia. 

Dr Edwards brings experience from working with primary and resource based industries and ministerial offices from his recent role 

as Chair of the Rock Lobster Industry Advisory Committee and his current professional appointments as a Board member at  the 

National Landcare Advisory Committee and founding Board Member of the Graham (Polly) Farmer Foundation.  Dr Edwards is 

also a business consultant providing a range of consultancy services. 

Dr Edwards’ term expires in May 2018. Due to deregulation this was amended to 31 December 2016. 

Mr Darryl Smith 

Mr Smith was elected to the Board in September 2007 and has been growing potatoes for over thirty years. Mr Smith is a past 

member of the Agricultural Produce Commission - Potato Producers Committee. He is also a former President of the Potato  

Growers Association of Western Australia. 

Mr Smith’s term expired in September 2016. Due to deregulation this was extended to 31 December 2016. 

Mr Basil Lenzo 

Mr Lenzo was appointed to the Board in May 2015. Mr Lenzo holds a Master in Business Administration from The University of 
Western Australia and is a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Mr Lenzo is a Managing Director of a family business, Lenzo Fishing Co. Pty. Ltd., with diversified interests in lobster fishing 
boats, importation, wholesale and distribution of food and beverages and retail shoes. He holds one current directorship, as      
non-executive Director of Geraldton Fishermen’s Co-operative. 

Mr Lenzo’s term expires in May 2018. Due to deregulation this was amended to 31 December 2016. 

Overview 
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Overview 

Ms Sophie Dwyer 

Ms Dwyer was appointed to the Board in May 2015. Ms Dwyer holds a Bachelor of Science (Horticulture) with Honours from The 

University of Western Australia, a Masters of Business Administration from Curtin University and has completed the Company   

Directors course with the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Ms Dwyer is a management consultant specialising in agri food.  She currently works with a global crop protection organisation 

and provides industry development and strategic planning services through The Advisory Panel.  Ms Dwyer is an elected member 

with the City of Joondalup. 

Ms Dwyer’s term expires in May 2018. Due to deregulation this was amended to 31 December 2016. 

Mr Paul McKenzie 

Mr McKenzie was appointed to the Board in May 2015. Mr McKenzie holds a Bachelor of Science (Agriculture) from The University 

of Western Australia, a Bachelor of Commerce from Murdoch University, and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Company  

Directors.  

Mr McKenzie is a professional agribusiness consultant and Company Director. He is the founder of Agrarian Management, Chair 

of Kangaroo Island Plantation Timbers Ltd (ASX:  KPT), Member of the Ministerial Agricultural Advisory Council and Director of the 

Rural Financial Counselling Service of WA.  Mr McKenzie is a Past President of the Australian Association of Agricultural         

Consultants (WA) Inc., and formerly Chair of Gage Roads Brewing Co Ltd (ASX: GRB). 

Mr McKenzie’s term expires in May 2018. Due to deregulation this was amended to 31 December 2016. 

Mr Glen Ryan 

Mr Ryan was appointed to the Board in December 2015 and is a potato and beef farmer, and a Current Member of the Agricultural   

Produce Commission – Potato Producers Committee, a Deputy Fire Control Officer - Quinninup Bush Fire Brigade and the        

Coordinator and founder of the Manjimup/Pemberton Potato Group. 

Mr Ryan’s term expires in September 2018. Due to deregulation this was amended to 31 December 2016. 
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Board Meeting Attendance and Fees 

Fees for Board members are determined by the Department of Premier and Cabinet and paid monthly.  Board members are  

reimbursed if travel, accommodation, telephone and motor vehicle expenses are incurred while on official business.   

Board member attendance to these meetings was as follows: 

Overview 

Changes to the Board: 

Due to the deregulation on the 30th September 2016 and the abolition of the Corporation as at 31 December 2016, all Board 

members terms expired as at 31 December 2016.  

The Board was abolished as at 31 December 2016 in line with the abolishment of the Corporation. 

 
Meetings attended while in Office 

(2016/2017) 
Meetings attended while in Office 

(2015/2016) 
Fees Paid  

($) 

Dr Ron Edwards 5 11 16,187 

Mr Darryl Smith 6 9 13,253 

Ms Sophie Dwyer 6 10 8,594 

Mr Basil Lenzo 6 10 8,194 

Mr Paul McKenzie 6 8 12,387 

Mr Glen Ryan 6 7 13,155 

Mr Greg Starkie 0 4 0 
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Senior Officers 

Chief Executive Officer 
 

Peter Evans joined the Corporation as Acting Chief Executive Officer in June 2012. Peter has a diverse range of management      

experience in the public sector, the Australian Defence Force, academe and the private sector. He is a Member of the Australian       

Institute of Management and the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

 

Peter is a graduate of The University of Western Australia holding a Bachelor of Arts (Economics) degree and has undertaken       

Post-Graduate studies in Business Administration. 

 

Peter was officially appointed as Chief Executive Officer in August 2013. 

Chief Financial Officer 

 

Stan Boczar joined the Corporation in January 2014 as Chief Financial Officer. Stan has over 20 years of experience in the       

manufacturing and aviation industries with large organisations such as Amcor and Qantas in a variety of senior commercial and  

financial managerial roles. Stan resigned from the Corporation effective 2nd September 2016. 

 

Tracey Ford was contracted by the Corporation in August 2016 through the CFO Centre to replace Stan Boczar and wind up the  

corporation due to the deregulation and abolishment of the Corporation. Tracey is an experienced Chief Financial Officer            

specialising in the Not For Profit sector, providing CFO services, strategic direction and corporate governance to organisations.  

 

Tracey is a qualified CPA and a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company Directors. Tracey holds both a Graduate  

Diploma in Accounting and a Bachelor of Commerce (Management) from Murdoch University WA. 

Overview 
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Other Key Legislation Impacting on the Corporation’s Activities 

In the performance of its functions, the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia complies with the following relevant 

legislation: 

Auditor General Act 2006 
A New Tax System (Goods and Services 
Tax) Act 1999 

State Supply Commission Act 1991 

Disability Services Act 1993 Electoral Act 1907 Equal Opportunity Act 1984 

Financial Management Act 2006 Financial Institutions Duty Act 1993 Freedom of Information Act 1992 

Contaminated Sites Act 2003 Government Employees Superannuation 
Act 1987 

Industrial Relations Act 1979 

Industrial Relations Reform Act 1993 
Library Board of Western Australia Act 
1951 

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 
1993  

Occupational Health and Safety Welfare 
Act 1984 

Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 Public Sector Management Act 1994 

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 State Records Act 2000 
Statutory Corporations (Liability of       
Directors) Act 1996 

Trade Practices Act 1974 
Workers’ Compensation and Assistance 
Act 1981 

Fair Work Act 2009 

Overview 
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In the financial administration of the Corporation, we have complied with the requirements of the Financial Management Act 

2006 and every other relevant written law, and exercised controls which provide reasonable assurance that the receipt and   

expenditure of moneys, the acquisition and disposal of public property and incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 

legislative provisions. 

At the date of signing we were not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars in this statement misleading 

or inaccurate.  

Overview 
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Government Goal – Financial and Economic Responsibility 

Responsibly managing the State’s finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging 
economic activity and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector. 
The Corporation’s primary service aligns closely with this Government goal. 

Primary service provided by the Corporation:  Effective regulation of ware potato production and supply in Western 
Australia for the benefit of the public. 

 The Corporation generally receives no capital or recurrent Government funding, however, as part of closure, funding 
of $1,198,451 was received from the Department of Agriculture and Food Western Australia for working capital purposes. 

 Western Australia Growers are assured of fair payment for all deliveries of ware potatoes. 

 The Corporation does not regulate the supply of potatoes for seed, processing and export. 

1.5 Performance Management Framework 

 

Government Goal – Outcomes Based Service Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians. 
The Corporation’s primary outcome aligns closely with this Government goal. 

Primary outcome of the Corporation: The quantity and variety of quality freshly harvested ware potatoes supplied 
meets the demand of the State’s consumers for 12 months of the year.  

Government Goal – Results-based Service Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of all Western Australians. 
The Corporation’s primary service aligns closely with this Government goal. 

Overview 
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Government Goal – Stronger Focus on the Regions 

Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and economic development to improve the overall 
quality of life in remote and regional areas.  
The Corporation’s primary service aligns closely with this Government goal. 

Primary service provided by the Corporation:   

 A high proportion of grower payments is spent in regional economies on production inputs, farm labour and transport 
services. 

 The Corporation is strongly committed to diversifying supply to new areas, such as Dandaragan/Gingin/Lancelin. 

 

Government Goal – Social and Environmental Responsibility 

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the     
long-term benefit of the State. 
The Corporation’s primary service aligns closely with this Government goal. 

Primary service provided by the Corporation:   
 Supply management of potatoes for the domestic market helps to eliminate overproduction, hence avoiding the 

wastage of inputs (fertilisers, chemicals, energy and water for irrigation) and harmful environment impacts. 
 The Corporation is strongly committed to the sustainable development of the potato industry. 

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework 

The Corporation’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 2016. 

Shared Responsibilities with Other Agencies 

The Corporation did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2016. 

Overview 
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 Section 2 -  
Agency 

Performance 

2.1 Report on Operations 

Highlights 

      

      This report only covers the last regulated Pool, being Pool 1, 2016/2017. 

 

   Pool 1 Domestic Market Entitlement (“DME’) Issued 12,138 tonnes - 01 July to 30 September  2016 (13 weeks). 
              

Over the quarter period ending 30 September 2016, primary production was 11,337 tonnes an increase of 9.73% from the  
previous season. 

 

The local market struggled to keep up with demand, with Class 2 potato production at an all-time low. Quality of product improved 

with the cooler climatic conditions, however, some growers struggled with yields early in the Pool. Areas affected were Myalup,  

GinGin and the Busselton regions. Unsaleable smalls were utilised as a substitute for Class 2 and non saleables were minimal  

compared to previous Pools. The Corporation had interest from the East Coast early and throughout the Pool and processors 

were also struggling for potatoes during the 13 week period.  

 

The Premier announced in April that the potato industry would be deregulated from the 1
st
 July 2016, however due to the Pool being 

officially signed off by the Minister for Agriculture and planted, Pool 1 of 2016/17 was to be the last Pool under the regulation of the 

Corporation. The Government has funded a $14 million industry adjustment package from Royalties for Regions to support  growers 

to make the transition to deregulation.  

Compliance protocol with Agents was continually actioned throughout the 13 week period, with random auditing of running sheets, 

designated consignments, monitoring stocks, checking chlorine levels, general inspection activities and ensuring grading standards 

were met at the packout and final to retail level. 
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Agency Performance  

The Corporation continued to work closely with Murdoch University in best practices and outcomes from the 

cool room trials.  Agronomic activities with industry experts in the phenomenon of stitching in certain varieties of  

potatoes as to why and the general overview of varieties for the future of the W.A. industry. 

Industry stakeholders focused on supplying quality and a selection of varieties during the July to September quarter with 

coloured (Reds & Blues) and yellow flesh varieties making up 59% of the market.  

The breakdown of varieties is as follows – Nadine 34%, Blues 20%, Reds (5) 15%, Yellows (12) 24% Others (4) 7%. 

The breakdown of supply went to the following – Agents 97.7%, Exporters 1.9%, Processors 0.4%, Non saleable 

0.03%.    

 
The Corporation continued to invest in mini tubers and new variety stock to underpin the goal of ensuring that seed is 

available to support a major transition in volume to customer preferred yellow flesh and new varieties. 

The Corporation Operations team’s o t h e r  core focus has been to continue modernising the ware potato    

supply chain with key initiatives including: 

 

● Encouraging growers to interact more with Agents to discuss programs of variety mix for the future and scheduling 

of deliveries for the 2016/2017 season and beyond.  

           

● Ongoing investigations of cool storage costs including bin hire, transport and cool room hire and analysing the result to 
consider options to reduce costs.   

 
● Working with the WA Seed Potato Producers (WASPP) to improve the efficiency and quality of seed supply. 
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Agency Performance  

  

 
 

Due to the shortfalls by weather events and the Corporation managing supply, industry was able to sustain fairly good returns 

for the growers in Pool 1.   

The Corporation Officers monitored vertically integrated grower / packers more closely as industry headed to the 

closure of regulation. All industry stakeholders including employees of the Corporation should be commended for 

playing their role in the smooth transition to an open market.    

Royal Blue will always be an issue in supply during the July to September period, but with today’s technology, Agents and 

Growers could combat the shortages and size problems with agronomy, new districts (North) and timing of cool storing   

product in order for a continuity of supply. As the Blues are well established for all sectors of the fresh produce industry, it 

would be disappointing for a product that is so sort after to lose its uniqueness in the open market. 

Yellow flesh varieties are constantly being scrutinised by stakeholders due to their inconsistencies in producing including 

oversize, powdery scab, skin finish and the shelf life of the product. Companies that breed varieties will continue to look for 

and promote dual purpose yellow flesh varieties and industry need to be ready.      

 

2016/17 Challenges 
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Agency Performance  

 

The Corporation Operation’s Officers concentrated in the areas of greatest risk to the successful operation of the regulated system 

during the Pool 1 period. More time was spent on early detection and identification of potential overplants, whilst monitoring the 

operation of washpackers, thus ensuring compliance with the Act.  

The Operations team increased the focus on auditing vertically integrated and high risk growers to ensure that they complied both 

in the field and at the washing shed. This involved observing harvest activities, obtaining yield estimates and conducting regular 

field stocktakes which were audited against the tonnage delivered.  

Designated Consignment (“DC”) assessments continued to be carried out in addition to regular Merchant inspection, which       

included viewing and recording the quality of potatoes inspected for a particular grower. The number of DC’s for the Pool,          

averaged ten per week which was the highest achieved in the past three seasons.   

The Corporation’s Operations team also closely monitored ‘contract’ potatoes to ensure that DME growers were not                  

disadvantaged when contract potatoes were being received into the Agent’s premises. 

 

 
 
 
 

Compliance 
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Marketing 

Agency Performance  

Executive Summary 
 
During the July to September period the tactical Buy Local campaign extended into new digital and social platforms.  The key driver 
for the campaign was a Short Form page hosted on Perth Now, meaning a dedicated webpage was created promoting why buy  
local is important, food safety, freshness, local grower stories, seasonality and growing regions information.  By housing the  
dedicated page within Perth Now the campaign leveraged off the network’s news credibility while accessing a new audience.  
 
Fresh Potatoes collaborated with Perth Now and local food sculpture artist Rick Taylor to create ‘Spud Art’; a consumer competition 
aimed at targeting a younger audience engagement from the 2015/16 burst. 
 
High impact front page advertisements ran in the West Australian thanking retailers for supporting local and being members in the 
100% Local Club.  Woolworths also signposted their membership with Point of Sale in all WA stores. 
 
The team delivered education resources to schools for the Seed for Schools program to support them during the harvest period.  
Schools were also invited to enter the Spud Art competition for the chance to win cooking class vouchers. 
 
Marketing  
 
The Corporation undertakes category marketing and promotional activity to support demand for fresh ware potatoes in Western 
Australia. Core activities in this program include: 
 

● Generic category marketing to support category growth and development. 
● Tactical marketing to support individual product initiatives. 
● Market tracking to monitor market pricing and product ranges. 
 

Campaign   
 
The 12 week ‘Buy Local’ advertising campaign aimed to stimulate demand for locally grown WA potatoes and celebrates retailers 
who choose to source only local fresh potatoes through the ‘100% Local Club’.  
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Major Achievements 
 
Mobile and desktop advertising on News Corp’s digital platforms taste.com.au, NewsConnect and perthnow.com.au delivering 
228,000 impressions and 265 clicks (to freshpotatoes.com.au).  

 
Banner advertising promoting our Short Form content page on perthnow.com.au, which promoted key campaign messages and 
Spud Art Instagram competition.  Banners delivered 1.2 million impressions, 3,054 page views and over 1,600 clicks. 
 
Facebook and Instagram advertising on Perth Now pages promoting short form content page and Spud Art Instagram  
competition. Activity reached over 115,000 people and delivered over 5,000 engagement actions (likes, shares, comments, 
views and clicks). 
 
Ran six front page advertisements and two page two advertisements in the West Australian thanking retailers for supporting   
local and being members in the 100% Local Club. This activity reached over 35.7% people 18+ living in Perth 4 times or more. 
 
Increased FreshpotatoesAU (Facebook) following from 19,500 to more than 20,812.  This active and engaged community  
provides a platform for key marketing messages to be communicated.  The final boost of likers was due to the Perth Now Spud 
Art competition that proved very popular with our younger, social media audience. 
 
Delivered education resources and support to participating schools in our Seed for Schools program.  Schools were also  
encouraged to create their own Spud Art and enter our Instagram competition 
 
Continued to foster retailer partnerships with Aldi, Woolworths & IGA support to source only WA potatoes, as members of the 
100% Local Club.  Woolworths signposted their membership with point of sale in all WA stores for a 4 week period. 
 

Market Tracking  
 
The Corporation tracks market pricing and promotion locally and interstate.  This ensures that prices are kept competitive in  
relation to local and national markets.  Category tracking also assists with idea generation for category development. 
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

3.1 Financial Statements 

Certification of Financial Statements 

For the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 

The accompanying financial statements of the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia have been prepared in 

compliance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly 

the financial transactions for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 and the financial position as at 31 December 2016. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render the particulars included in the financial 

statements misleading or inaccurate. 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income - for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 

 

 The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Note 

01 July - 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2016 
    $ $ 

Income:    

 Revenue    

 Sales 6 8,673,183 30,843,401 
 Interest revenue 7 38,559 55,270 
 Other revenue 8 1,276,880 11,352 

 Total Income  9,988,622 30,910,023 
    

 Expenses:    

 Cost of sales 6 7,221,815 26,266,733 
 Employee benefits expense 9 985,928 1,424,872 
 Supplies and services 10 764,631 2,917,472 

 Depreciation and amortisation expense 11 749 12,458 
 Administration expenses 12 229,999 446,877 
 Accommodation expenses 13 - 24,178 
 Other expenses 14 - 212,897 

 Total Expenses  9,203,122 31,305,487 

      

 Profit/(loss) before allocation to Grower Reserve Fund  785,500 (395,464) 

 Allocation (to)/from Grower Reserve Fund as per Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946  144,209 395,464 

 Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies from State Government  929,709 - 

    

 Profit/(loss) for the Period  929,709 - 
    

 Other Comprehensive Income    

 Items not reclassified subsequently to profit or loss  - - 

 Total other Comprehensive Income  - - 
    

 Total Comprehensive Income for the Period  929,709 - 
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Statement of Financial Position - as at 31 December 2016 

 The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Note 

31  
December 

2016 

30 June 
2016 

    $ $ 

Assets:    

 Current Assets    

 Cash and cash equivalents 24 241,050 3,260,913 

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 15 687,627 - 

 Receivables 16 15,007 1,579,360 

Total Current Assets  943,684 4,840,273 

 Non-Current Assets    

 Property, plant and equipment 17 - 749 

 Investment Property 17 - - 

 Total Non-Current Assets  - 749 

 Total Assets  943,684 4,841,022 

Liabilities:    

 Current Liabilities    

 Payables 20 60,462 375,328 

 Provisions 21 - 138,519 

 Other current liabilities 22 - 4,229,453 

 Total Current Liabilities  60,462 4,743,300 

 Non-Current Liabilities    

                                      Provisions 21 -  

 Total Non-Current Liabilities  - - 

Total Liabilities  60,462 4,743,300 

Net Assets:       883,222 97,722 

 Equity: 23   

 Contributed equity  - - 

 Asset Revaluation Reserve  - - 

 Grower Reserve Fund  337,299 481,508 

 Accumulated Losses  545,923 (383,786) 

 Total Equity  883,222 97,722 
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Statement of Changes in Equity - for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 

 
      

 The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read  
Note Contributed  Asset  Grower Accumulated  Total 

 in conjunction with the accompanying notes.   Equity Reserves Reserves Surplus/(Deficit) Equity 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
 

      

Balance at 1 July 2015:  710,000 3,662,477 876,971 (330,546) 4,918,902 

Changes in accounting policy or correction of        

prior period errors       

 Balance at 1 July 2015   710,000 3,662,477 876,971 (330,546) 4,918,902 

Surplus / (deficit)     - - 

Distribution to Owners  (763,240) (3,662,477)   (4,425,717) 

Contributions by growers    948,868  948,868 

Distributions to growers    (1,344,331)  (1,344,331) 

Total  (763,240) (3,662,477) (395,463) - (4,821,180) 

Transfer of Debit Balance to Accumulated 
Deficit  53,240   (53,240)  

Balance at 30 June 2016 23 - - 481,508 (383,786) 97,722 

Balance at 1 July 2016:  - - 481,508 (383,786) 97,722 

Surplus / (deficit)     929,709 929,709 

Distribution to Owners       

Contributions by growers    243,263  243,263 

Distributions to growers    (387,472)  (387,472) 

Total    (144,209) 929,709 785,500 

Balance at 31 December 2016 23   337,299 545,923 883,222 



 

Potato Marketing Corporation | Annual Report 2016/2017 
37 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Statement of Cash Flows - for the period ended 31 December 2016 

 The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Note 

01 July - 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2016 
    $ $ 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:    

 Receipts    

Sale of goods and services  10,215,240 30,646,205 
Interest received  38,559 55,270 
GST receipts on income  81,985 326,468 

Other receipts  1,276,880 11,352 
    

 Payments:    

Employee benefits  (1,136,823) (1,500,225) 
Supplies and services  (764,631) (2,917,472) 
Administration expenses  (229,999) (446,877) 
Accommodation expenses  - (24,178) 
Other Expenses  - (236,638) 
GST payments on purchases  (96,739) (337,576) 

Cost of Sales  (11,716,708) (24,872,467) 

    

 Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 24 (2,332,236) 703,863 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,332,236) 703,863 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  3,260,913 2,557,050 

Cash and Cash Equivalent at the end of the Period 24 928,677 3,260,913 
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Notes to the Financial Statements - for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 

Note 1: Australian Accounting Standards 

General 

The Corporation’s financial statements for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 have been prepared in accordance with        

Australian Accounting Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the 

Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB). The Corporation has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian             

Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 

The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of         

Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Partial exemption permitting early adoption of AASB 2015-7    

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities has been granted. 

Aside from AASB 2015-7, there has been no early adoption of any other Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued or 

amended (but not operative) by the Corporation for the period 01 July to 31 December 2016. 

Note 2: Summary of significant accounting policies 

(a) General statement 

The Corporation is a not for profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in accordance with Australian  

Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB 

as applied by the Treasurer's instructions.  Several of these are modified by the Treasurer's instructions to vary application,          

disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer's instructions impose legislative provisions that govern the preparation of 

financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting       

Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.  
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Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that       

modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation  

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for 

land, buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair value. 

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 

presented unless otherwise stated. 

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest dollar ($).   

The Corporation was established under the Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946. On the 12th September 2016 the 1946 Act was        

repealed. The Corporation has prepared the financial statements in accordance with the State Government's decision that the    

Marketing of Potatoes Act 1946 was abolished as at 31 December 2016. The Regulation and Act continued to operate in its current 

form until 30 September 2016 with officially winding up activities by 31 December 2016.  Accordingly, this financial report is the final 

financial report of the Corporation and therefore the financial report has been prepared on a non-going concern basis. In preparing 

the financial statements on a non-going concern basis, the Corporation has continued to apply the requirements of Australia        

Accounting Standards taking into account the Corporation will be abolished, any assets and liabilities that remained post 31          

December 2016 were transferred to and became the responsibility of the State. 

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the     

process of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the      

financial statements. 

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ discloses key assumptions made concerning the future and other key sources of       

estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 
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(c) Reporting entity  

The reporting entity comprises the Corporation only.  

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the nature of 

equity contributions, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the 

owner) as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity              

contributions.  Capital appropriations have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to 

Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity. 

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are            

designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 

(e) Income  

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. The following specific recognition       

criteria must be also met before revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership    

transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 

Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction. 

Interest 

Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 
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Non-reciprocal contributions 

Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Corporation obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 

cash is received. 

Gains 

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the disposal of non-current     

assets and some revaluations of non-current assets 

(f) Income tax 

The Corporation is exempt from Income Tax. 

(g) Property, plant and equipment and infrastructure 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising   

assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing less than 

$5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other than where they form part of a group of 

similar items which are significant in total). 

The Corporation does not have infrastructure. 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of              

acquisition. 
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Subsequent measurement  

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and historical 

cost for all other property, plant and equipment.  Land and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated depreciation 

(buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying   

values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market             

transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount         

restated to the revalued amount. 

In the absence of market-based evidence, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This     

normally applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is restricted.  Fair value for existing use assets is determined by 

reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement 

cost.  Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount and the 

accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately.  Fair value for restricted use in land is determined by comparison with    

market evidence for land with similar approximate utility (high restricted use land) or market value of comparable unrestricted land 

(low restricted use land). 

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services) 

and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the end of the 

reporting period. 

The most significant assumptions and judgements in estimating fair value are made in assessing whether to apply the existing use 

basis to assets and in determining estimated economic life. Professional judgement by the valuer is required where the evidence 

does not provide a clear distinction between market type assets and existing use assets. 
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Investment property 

Investment property, principally comprising freehold buildings, is held for long-term rental yields and is not occupied by the           

Corporation. Investment property is carried at fair value, as mandated by TI 954, representing open-market value determined       

annually by external valuers. Changes in fair value are recorded in the profit or loss as part of other income.  

Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation surplus relating to 

that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus 

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets on a class of    

assets basis. 

Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner that    

reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. 

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each 
class of depreciable asset are: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(a) Includes software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition. 

Land is not depreciated.   

Buildings 20 years 

Plant and equipment 5 years 

Office equipment 5 years 

Mobile equipment 10 years 

Office furniture 10 years 

Field equipment 10 years 

Computer equipment - including software 
(a)

 3 years 
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The Corporation does not have any Intangible Assets. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of each     

reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount 

is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment 

loss is recognised.  As the Corporation is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the            

recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the         

replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to 

verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 

benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs. 

 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of 

each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

 

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of    

future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment 

where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated 

replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are 

tested for indications of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

Refer to note 19 ‘Impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing. 

Refer also to note 2(m) ‘Receivables’ and note 16 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables. 
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(i) Financial Instruments  

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the Corporation has three categories of financial instrument: 

-         Loans and receivables; 

-         Held-to-maturity investments (commercial bills and term deposits); and 

-         Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

-         Financial Assets 

-         Cash and cash equivalents 

-         Receivables 

-         Term deposits 

-         Financial Liabilities 

-         Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the 
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate         
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material. 

Refer to note 2(n) ‘Investments and other financial costs’. 

(j) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets     
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.   

(k) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries (refer to note 20 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued 
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Corporation considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to 
be equivalent to its fair value.  

(l) Inventories 

Inventories are measured at the net realisable value as they are in the hands of the merchant. Inventories are potatoes delivered to 
the Corporation but not yet graded by the merchant. Their cost is measured as the tonnage x current payment rates.  
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(m)     Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e.                

impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible are 

written-off against the allowance account.  The allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective 

evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for       

settlement within 14 days.   

Refer also to note 2(i) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 16 ‘Receivables’.  

(n) Investments and other financial assets 

The Corporation classifies its investments into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and     

receivables, held-to-maturity investments, and available-for-sale financial assets.  The classification depends on the purpose for 

which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and           

re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.  Investments not at fair value are initially recognised at cost being 

the fair value of consideration given, including directly attributable transaction costs. 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates are classified as held-to-maturity when 

management has a positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments intended to be held for an undefined period are not 

included in this classification. 

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments, such as commercial bills, are subsequently measured at amortised cost    

using the effective interest method.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, 

over the period to maturity.  For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in the Statement of      

Comprehensive Income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

The Corporation assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial     

assets is impaired. 
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(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Corporation becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a      

purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 

Refer to note 2(i) ‘Financial Instruments’ and note 20 ‘Payables’. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive obligation 

as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can 

be made of the amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 

Refer to note 14 ‘Other expenses’ and note 21 ‘Provisions’. 

Provisions - employee benefits 

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. 

Annual leave 

Annual leave is expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore considered to 

be a ‘short-term employee benefit’.  The annual leave liability is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to 

be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary  

components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of       

service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national             

government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Corporation does not have an unconditional right to defer           

settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. 
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Long service leave 

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting period and is therefore          

recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the                

remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary  

components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of       

service. The expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national             

government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Corporation does not have an unconditional 

right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre-conditional and conditional 

long service leave provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Corporation has an unconditional right to defer the        

settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite years of service. 

Superannuation 

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administer public sector superannuation                  

arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 

schemes for public sector employees varies according to commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or the 

Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS     

became non contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment on or 

after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS 

or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider.  
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The Corporation makes contributions to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the                

Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes 

extinguish the Corporation’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not members of the Pension 

Scheme or Gold State Super (“GSS”). 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole of government reporting.  However, it is a defined 

contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Corporation to 

GESB extinguishes the agency's obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Corporation has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the         

unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer. 

All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Corporation to GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the   

employer's share. 

Refer to note 2(q) ‘Superannuation expense’. 

Provisions – other 

Employment on-costs 

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as       

liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of 

‘Other expenses’ and are not included as part of the Corporation’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  The related liability is included in 

‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

Refer to note 14 ‘Other expenses’ and note 21 ‘Provisions’. 
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(q) Superannuation expense 

Superannuation expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in profit or loss for defined contribution plans,    

including the concurrent payment of employer contributions to the GSS scheme, as and when the contributions fall due. 

For defined benefit plans (the Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer component of the GSS), changes in the defined benefit         

obligation are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income either in profit or loss, or other comprehensive income as   

follows: 

 profit or loss: 

 - current service cost; 

 - past service cost, 

 - interest cost 

 other comprehensive income: 

 - actuarial gains and losses 

Refer to note 2 (p) ‘Provisions - Employee Benefits’ under Superannuation.    

(r) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year.  
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Note 3: Judgments made by management in applying accounting policies 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting policies that 

have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. The Corporation evaluates these judgements         

regularly. 

There are no judgements that have been made in the process of applying accounting policies that have had any significant effect on 

the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the future are based on historical experience and various other factors that have a     

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. 

Long Service Leave 

Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Corporation’s long service leave provision include expected future   

salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments.  Changes in these estimations and assump-

tions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision. 

Note 4: Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
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AASB 2013-9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality and Financial Instruments. 

Part C of this standard defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January 2017. The application date of AASB 9 was 
subsequently deferred to 1 January 2018 by AASB 2014-1. The Corporation has not yet determined the application 
of the potential impact of AASB 9. 

AASB 2014-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2014) - Application of AASB 9 
(December 2009) and AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 9 (2009 & 2010)]– Conceptual Framework, Materiality and 
Financial Instruments. 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 9 Financial Instruments (December 2009) and AASB 9 Financial In-
struments (December 2010), arising from the issuance of AASB 9 Financial Instruments in December 2014. The 
Corporation has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of AASB 9. 

AASB 2015-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Withdrawal of AASB 1031 Materiality. 

This Standards completes the withdrawal of references to AASB 1031 in all Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations, allowing that Standard to be effectively withdrawn. There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for-Profit Public Sector Entities 
[AASB 13]. 

This standard relieves not-for-profit public sector entities from the reporting burden associated with various disclo-
sures required by AASB 13 for assets within scope of AASB 116 that are held primarily for their current service po-
tential rather than to generate future net cash inflows. It has no financial impact. 

AASB 2015-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Related Party Disclosures to Not-for-Profit Public 
Sector Entities [AASB 10, 124 & 1049] 
The amendments extend the scope of AASB 124 to include application by not-for-profit public sector entities. Im-
plementation guidance is included to assist application of the Standard by not-for-profit public sector entities. There 
is no financial impact. 

 
 

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard 

The Corporation has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2016 that impacted on the Corporation. 

Note 5: Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates 
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Voluntary changes in accounting policy 

The Corporation has not voluntarily changed any accounting policies in the financial period reported.  

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative 

Given the Corporation was abolished on 31 December 2016, it was not considered necessary to assess or disclose the              

future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative. 

 01 July to 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

 
 $ $ 

Sales 8,673,183 30,843,401 

Cost of Sales:   

Purchase from Growers 6,982,902 25,508,757 

End Point Royalties/Levies 238,913 757,976 

Cost of Goods Sold 7,221,815 26,266,733 

  Trading Profit 1,451,368 4,576,668 

Note 6: Trading profit 
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Note 7: Interest revenue. 

 01 July to 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $ $ 

Money Market Deposit 6,158 18,250 

Main Operating Account 32,401 37,020 

Total: 38,559 55,270 

Note 8: Other revenue. 

 01 July to 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

 
 $ $ 

Support Staff Reimbursement 5,732 - 

Seed Sales - 11,352 

Closure Funding 1,198,451 - 

Legal Costs Awarded 72,100 - 

Asset Sale Proceeds 597 - 

Total: 1,276,880 11,352 
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Note 9: Employee benefits expense 

 01 July to 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 2016 

 
 $ $ 

Wages and Salaries 
(a)

 930,727 1,267,552 

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 
(b)

 55,201 157,320 

Total: 985,928 1,424,872 

Note 10: Supplies and services 

 01 July to 31 
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 2016 

  $ $ 

Consultants and Contractors 608,248 1,537,003 

Operational Trials 9,449 55,037 

Marketing 143,568 1,203,711 

Travel ( 6,738) 36,930 

Recruitment 4,160 2,561 

Other 5,944 82,230 

Total: 764,631 2,917,472 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and GESB Super Scheme (contributions paid). 
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Note 11: Depreciation expense 

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Buildings - 1,694 

Office Furniture and Fittings - 1,328 

Computer Equipment 749 9,436 

Total: 749 12,458 

Note 12: Administration expenses 

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Communication 6,274 15,728 

Consumables 6,145 14,498 

Audit Fees 88,000 58,736 

Insurance 45,565 36,501 

Motor Vehicle Expenses 28,194 87,827 

Rental/Leasing 5,942 64,856 

Payroll Tax 35,434 53,270 

Business Improvements - 88,852 

Other 14,445 26,609 

Total: 229,999 446,877 

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Repairs and Maintenance - 12,327 

Cleaning and Security - 9,390 

Rates and Utilities - 2,461 

Total: - 24,178 

Note 13: Accommodation expenses 
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Note 14: Other expenses 

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Current:   

Trade debtors 5,732 1,547,789 

GST Receivable 9,275 31,571 

Total Current: 15,007 1,579,360 

Note 16: Receivables 

 1 July to  
31 December 

2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

 
 $  $ 

Restricted Cash—Grower Funds (a) 687,627 - 

Total: 687,627 - 

 1 July to  
31 December 

2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

 
 $  $ 

Research & Development - 201,832 

Bond - (18,750) 

Doubtful Debts - 29,815 

Total: - 212,897 

Note 15: Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

(a) Grower funds sitting in legal trust account of Kott Gunning Lawyers. 
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Note 17: Property, plant and equipment

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Land   

At fair value  - - 

Accumulated impairment losses - - 

Total: - - 

Buildings:   

  At fair value  - - 

  Accumulated depreciation - - 

  Accumulated impairment losses - - 

Total: - - 

Plant and Equipment:   

  At cost - - 

  Accumulated depreciation - - 

Total: - - 

Office furniture and fittings:   

  At cost - - 

  Accumulated depreciation - - 

Total: - - 

Office and field equipment:   

  At cost  -  23,453 

  Accumulated depreciation - (23,453) 

Total: - - 

Computer Equipment:   

  At cost  180,847  180,847 

  Accumulated depreciation (180,847) (180,098) 

Total: - 749 

Total Property, Plant and Equipment: - 749 
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Land Building 
Plant & 

equipment 

Office 
furniture 
& fittings 

Office  
& field 

equipment 

Computer      
equipment 

Invest-
ment 

property 
Total 

01 July to 31 December 2016 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Carrying amount at start of period - - - - - 749 - 749 

Additions        - 

Transfers        - 

Other disposals        - 

Classified as held for sale        - 

Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 

(a)
        - 

Impairment losses         - 

Impairment losses reversed         - 

Depreciation      (749)  (749) 

Carrying amount at end of period - - - - - - - - 

         

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set 
out in the table below.  

Year Ended 30 June 2016 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Carrying amount at start of period 3,930,000 80,803 - 22,155 - 10,185 395,782 4,438,925 

Additions        - 

Transfers        - 

Other disposals (3,930,000) (79,109)  (20,827)   (395,782) (4,425,718) 

Classified as held for sale        - 

Revaluation increments / 
(decrements) 

(a)
        - 

Impairment losses         - 

Impairment losses reversed         - 

Depreciation  (1,694)  (1,328)  (9,436)  (12,458) 

Carrying amount at end of period - - - - - 749 - 749 

(a) Recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. Where the carrying amount of a class of assets is increased as a result of a revaluation, the net 
revaluation increase is recognised in the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income and accumulated in equity under the heading of revaluation surplus. The net 
revaluation increase shall be recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a net revaluation decrease of the same class of  assets previously            
recognised in the profit or loss. 
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Note 18: Fair value measurements 

There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 or 3 during the period. 
 
Fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) 

 Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Fair Value At 

End of Period 

 For the Period Ended 31 December 2016 $ $ $ $ 

 Land (Note 17) - - - - 

 Buildings (Note 17) - - - - 

 - - - - 

 For the Period Ended 31 December 2016 
Land Buildings 

$ $ 

 Fair Value at start of period - - 

 Additions - - 

 Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss - - 

 Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other      
Comprehensive Income 

- - 

 Transfers (from/(to) Level 2) - - 

 Disposals - - 

 Depreciation Expense - - 

 Fair Value at end of period - - 

Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under 
‘Other Gains’ 

- - 

 Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 

- - 
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 Year Ended 30 June 2016 
Land Buildings 

$ $ 

 Fair Value at start of period 3,930,000 476,585 

 Additions        -            - 

 Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Profit or Loss        -           - 

 Revaluation increments/(decrements) recognised in Other                                    
Comprehensive Income 

       -           - 

 Transfers (from/(to) Level 2)        -           - 

 Disposals (3,930,000) (474,891) 

 Depreciation Expense        - (1,694) 

 Fair Value at end of period        -                - 

 Total gains or losses for the period included in profit or loss, under 
‘Other Gains’ 

        -          - 

 Change in unrealised gains or losses for the period included in 
profit or loss for assets held at the end of the reporting period 

        -          - 
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Valuation processes 

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period. 

Transfers in and out of a fair value level are recognised on the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the    

transfer.  Transfers are generally limited to assets newly classified as non-current assets held for sale as Treasurer's instructions 

require valuations of land, buildings and infrastructure to be categorised within Level 3 where the valuations will utilise significant 

Level 3 inputs on a recurring basis. 

Fair value for existing use specialised buildings and infrastructure assets is determined by reference to the cost of replacing the   

remaining future economic benefits embodied in the asset, i.e. the depreciated replacement cost.  Depreciated replacement cost is 

the current replacement cost of an asset less accumulated depreciation calculated on the basis of such cost to reflect the already 

consumed or expired economic benefit, or obsolescence, and optimisation (where applicable) of the asset. Current replacement 

cost is generally determined by reference to the market observable replacement cost of a substitute asset of comparable utility and 

the gross project size specifications. 

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable land that is    

unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low restricted use land), or, comparison 

with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land). 

Significant Level 3 inputs used by the Corporation are derived and evaluated as follows: 

Historical cost per square metre floor area (m
2
) 

The costs of constructing specialised buildings with similar utility are extracted from financial records of the Corporation, then       

Indexed by movements in CPI. 

Consumed economic benefit/obsolescence of asset 

These are estimated by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 



 

Potato Marketing Corporation | Annual Report 2016/2017 
63 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Selection of land with restricted utility 

Fair value for restricted use land is determined by comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility. Relevant         

comparators of land with low level utility are selected by the Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). 

Historical cost per cubic metre (m
3
) 

The costs of construction of infrastructure are extracted from financial records of the Corporation and indexed by movements in      

construction costs by quantity surveyors. 

Information about significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) in fair value measurements 

Description  

Fair Value as at 
31 December 

2016                 

$ 

Fair Value as at 
30 June 2016   

$ 

Valuation   

Technique(s) 

Unobservable      

Inputs 

Land $0 $0 Current Use 
Selection of land with similar 

approximate utility 

Buildings $0 $0 
Depreciated    
Replacement 

Cost 

Historical cost per square  
metre floor area (m

2
) 

Relationship of  
  unobservable    

  inputs to fair value 

Higher value of similar land 
increases estimated fair value. 

Higher historical cost per m
2
 

increases fair value. 
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Basis of Valuation 

In the absence of market-based evidence, due to the specialised nature of some non financial assets, these assets are valued at 

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy on an existing use basis. The existing use basis recognises that restrictions or limitations have 

been placed on their use and disposal when they are not determined to be surplus to requirements. These restrictions are imposed 

by virtue of the assets being held to deliver a specific community service and the Corporation’s enabling legislation. 

 

 

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets at 31 December 

2016. 

The Corporation held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period, and at the end of the   

reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. 

 

Note 19: Impairment of fixed assets 
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 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

Current:  $  $ 

Sundry creditors - 185,699 

End Point Royalties - 96,453 

Tax liabilities 1,558 37,052 

Other creditors - 42,189 

Accrued expenses 58,904 - 

Accrued salaries - 13,934 

Total current: 60,462 375,328 

Note 20: Payables. 

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

Current:   $  $ 

Employee benefits provision:   

 Annual leave 
(a)

 - 88,574 

 Long service leave 
(b)

 - 49,945 

Total current: - 138,519 

Non-Current:    

Employee benefits provision:   

 Long service leave 
(b)

 - - 

Total non-current: - - 

Note 21: Provisions.  
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 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period - 88,574 

More than 12 months after the reporting period - - 

Total: - 88,574 

Note 22: Other liabilities 

(b) 
Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 

12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows:  

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period - 49,945 

More than 12 months after the reporting period - - 

Total: - 49,945 

(c) 
The provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the     

discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Administration expenses’.  

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

Current:  $  $ 

Payments due to growers first and Interims - 1,478,609 

Payments due to growers final - 2,750,844 

Total current: - 4,229,453 

(a) 
Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 

after the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 
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Note 23: Equity 

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Corporation on behalf of the community. Equity represents the   
residual interest in the net assets of the Corporation. The asset revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from 
the revaluation of  non-current assets.  

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

Contributed equity  $  $ 

Balance at start of period - 710,000 

Land & Buildings for Sale Transferred to Department of Lands - (763,240) 

Transfer of debit balance to accumulated deficit - 53,240 

Balance at end of period - - 

Reserves   

Asset revaluation surplus:   

  Balance at start of period - 3,662,477 

  Net revaluation increments / (decrements):   

                      Land & Buildings - (3,662,477) 

Balance at end of period - - 

Grower reserve:   

  Balance at start of period 481,508 876,971 

  Contributions from pools 243,263 948,868 

  Distributions to pools (387,472) (1,344,331) 

Balance at end of period 337,299 481,508 

Accumulated surplus/(deficit)   

Balance at start of period (383,786) (330,546) 

Result for the period 929,709 - 

Transfer of Contributed Equity Debit Balance to Accumulated Deficit - (53,240) 

Balance at end of period 545,923 (383,786) 

Total Equity at End of Period 883,222 97,722 



 

Potato Marketing Corporation | Annual Report 2016/2017 
68 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Note 24: Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to the related items in the     
Statement of Financial Position as follows:  

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents   

Cash and cash equivalents:   

  Cash at bank 241,050 2,260,913 

  Cash on deposit - 1,000,000 

  Restricted cash - Grower Funds (Note 15) 687,627 - 

Balance at end of period 928,677 3,260,913 

Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalent to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities. 

 01 July to 31 
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Profit after income tax equivalents 929,709 - 

Non-cash items:   

  Depreciation and amortisation expense 749 12,458 

  Loss / (Gain) on asset disposals - - 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:   

  Current receivables  1,542,056 (197,196) 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   

  Current payables   (314,866) 53,327 

  Current provisions (138,519) (23,864) 

  Other current liabilities (4,229,453) 1,320,352 

  Non-current provisions - (54,644) 

Change in GST in receivables/payables  22,297 (11,107) 

Net grower reserve movements (144,209) (395,463) 

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities  (2,332,236) 703,863 
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Note 25: Commitments 
 01 July to 31       

December 2016 
Year Ended 30 June 

2016 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments:  $  $ 

Commitments for minimum lease payments are payable as fol-
lows: 

  

  Within 1 year - 16,160 

Total: - 16,160 

These commitments are all inclusive of GST.  

Note 26: Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Contingent Liabilities 

Contaminated sites 

Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Corporation is required to report known and suspected contaminated sites to the          

Department of Environment and Conservation (DEC). In accordance with the Act, DEC classifies these sites on the basis of the risk 

to human health, the environment and environmental values. Sites classified as contaminated (or suspected) may impose a liability 

on the Corporation for remediation expenses. The Corporation has no property under it’s control as at the balance date. 

Litigation in progress 

The Corporation is in legal dispute with a grower and an agent at the time of reporting and it is unclear as to when the dispute may 

be settled.     

Other Contingent Liabilities  

The Corporation is not aware of any other contingent liabilities as at the financial reporting date. 

Contingent Assets 

The Corporation is not aware of any contingent assets as at the financial reporting date.  



 

Potato Marketing Corporation | Annual Report 2016/2017 
70 

Disclosures and Legal Compliance 

Note 27: Events occurring after the end of the reporting period 

 

Note 28: Explanatory statement 

Significant variations between estimates and actual results are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those 

greater than 10% or $100,000. Given the Corporation was being wound up, the years can not be compared. 

Significant variances between  
Actual 01 July to 31 December 
2016 and Actual for the Year 
Ending 30 June 2016 

 For the Period 
01 July to 31 

December 2016 
Actual 

$ 

 For the Year 
Ended 30 
June 2016 

Actual 
$ 

Variance 
$ 

Sales 8,673,183 30,843,401 (22,170,218) 

Cost of Sales 7,221,815 26,266,733 19,044,918 

Interest revenue 38,559 55,270 (16,711) 

Other revenue 1,276,880 11,352 1,265,528 

Employee benefits expense 985,928 1,424,872 438,944 

Supplies and Services 764,631 2,917,472 2,152,841 

Depreciation expense 749 12,458 11,709 

Administration expense 229,999 446,877 216,878 

Accommodation expense - 24,178 24,178 

Other expense - 212,897 212,897 

The Corporation has been completely wound up as at 31 December 2016. 

Sales 

Revenues decreased due to deregulation after Pool 1 as at 30 September 2016. 

Cost of sales 

Cost of sales decreased due to deregulation after Pool 1 as at 30 September 2016. 
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Interest revenue 

Half a year earned only due to closure 

Other revenue 

Closure Costs provided by DAFWA to wind up the Corporation, not part of normal operating income. 

Employee benefits expense 

Due to the closure of the Corporation, majority of staff finished up on 30 September 2016 or prior and any vacancies during the     
reported period were being backfilled with short term contractors or left vacant. The employee benefits include severance costs of 
$677,383. 

Supplies and services 

Reduced costs due to there only being 6 months of operations, this included Marketing which was only active during Pool 1,  July to 
September 2016 . 

Depreciation expense 

Majority of the Assets were fully depreciated in the 2016 financial year, with the last asset being fully depreciated in July 2016. 

Administration expense 

Costs have been reduced due to there only being 6 months of operations, with a majority of the staff and duties finishing up when 
the Corporation was deregulated on 30 September 2016, resulting in Administration costs decreasing. This included 4 of the 6    
motor vehicles being returned on 30 September 2016. There was an increase to insurance due to the run-off cover from 31         
December 2016 to 31 December 2023. 

Accommodation expense 

Rates, Security and Maintenance all included in the rent (under Administration Expenses), previous year costs related to the    
Cockburn Road premises. 

Other expense 

Previous year had adhoc R & D project spend prior to transition to deregulation - none in the current reporting period. 
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Note 29: Financial instruments 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 

Financial instruments held by the Corporation are cash and cash equivalents, restrictive cash, receivables and payables. The          

Corporation has limited exposure to financial risks and the overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified 

below. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Corporation’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in  

financial loss to the Corporation.   

The Corporation measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a regular basis. The maximum exposure to credit risk 

at end of the reporting period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets      

inclusive of any provisions for impairment as shown in the table at note 29(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 16 

‘Receivables’. 

The Corporation only trades with recognised, creditworthy third parties and has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 

services are made to customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an on-going basis 

with the result that exposure to bad debts is minimal. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises when the Corporation is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Corporation is exposed to        

liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. The Corporation has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows  

by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to meet its commitments. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the Corporation’s    

income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The Corporation does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially  

exposed to other price risks. The Corporation has no long term debt therefore is not exposed to risk from changes in interest rates. 
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(b)  Categories of financial instruments 

In addition to cash and bank overdraft, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial   

liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 

 31 December 
2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $000  $000 

Financial Assets:   

 Cash and cash equivalents 241 3,261 

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 688 - 

 Loans and receivables 
(a)

 6 1,548 

Financial Liabilities:   

           Bank overdraft - - 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 60 4,605 

(a) 
The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  

(c) Financial instrument disclosures 

Credit risk  

The following table disclose the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and the ageing analysis of 

financial assets. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the carrying amount of    

financial assets as shown below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 

financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Corporation. The Corporation does not 

hold any financial assets that had to have their terms renegotiated that would have otherwise resulted in them being past due or  

impaired. 
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Interest rate exposures and aging  analysis of financial assets
 (a) 

 Ageing Analysis of Financial Assets 

 
Financial Assets 

Carrying 
Amount 

Not Past Due and 
Not Impaired 

Up to 1 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5  
Years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Impaired 
financial 
assets 

$000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s 

For the Period Ended 31 
December 2016 

        

Cash and cash         
equivalents 

241 241 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 

688 688 - - - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

 6 6 - - - - - - 

Total: 935 935 - - - - - - 

         

For the Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

        

Cash and cash         
equivalents 

3,261 3,261 - - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents 

- - - - - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

 1,548 1,230 318 - - - - - 

Total: 4,809 4,491 318 - - - - - 

(a) 
The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  
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Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
  

 Interest rate exposure Maturity date 

 
For the Period Ended 
31 December 2016 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
amount 

Fixed          
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Total 
Nominal 
amount 

Up to 
1 

month 

1 to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5  
Years 

More 
than 5 
years 

% $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s 

Financial Assets            

Cash and cash        
equivalents 

2.20% 241 - 241 - 241 241 - - - - 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 

 688 - - 688 688 688 - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

  6 - - 6 6 6 - - - - 

Total:  935 - 241 694 935 935 - - - - 

            

Financial Liabilities            

Payables  60 - - 60 60 60 - - - - 

Outstanding payments 
to growers 

 - - - - - - - - - - 

 Total:  60 - - 60 60 60 - - - - 

(a) 
The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  

Liquidity and interest rate exposure  

The following table details the Corporation’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and         

financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows. The interest rate exposure section     

analyses only the carrying amounts of each item. 
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(a) 
The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
  

 Interest rate exposure Maturity date 

 

For the Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 

Rate 

Carrying 
amount 

Fixed          
interest 

rate 

Variable 
interest 

rate 

Non-
interest 
bearing 

Total 
Nominal 
amount 

Up to 1 
month 

1 to 3 
months 

3-12 
months 

1-5  
Years 

More 
than 5 
years 

% $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s $000s 

Financial Assets            

Cash and cash        
equivalents 

2.24% 3,261 - 3,261 - 3,261 3,261 - - - - 

Restricted cash and 
cash equivalents 

 - - - - - - - - - - 

Receivables 
(a)

  1,548 - - 1,548 1,548 1,548 - - - - 

Total:  4,809 - 3,261 1,548 4,809 4,809 - - - - 

            

Financial Liabilities            

Payables   375 - - 375 375 375 - - - - 

Outstanding payments 
to growers 

 4,229 - - 4,229 4,229 4,229 - - - - 

 Total:  4,605 - - 4,605 4,605 4,605 - - - - 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 

The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities at the end 

of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% change in interest rates.  It is assumed that the change in    

interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.  

 
 - 100 basis points + 100 basis points 

For the Period Ended 31 December 2016 

Carrying 
amount  

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalent 241 (2) (2) 2 2 

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 688 (7) (7) 7 7 

Total Increase/(Decrease) 929 (9) (9) 9 9 

 
Financial Liabilities 
The corporation does not have any financial liabilities subject to interest rate sensitivity.   
 
  - 100 basis points  + 100 basis points  

For the Year Ended 30 June 2016 
Carrying 
amount  

Surplus Equity Surplus Equity 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Financial Assets      

 Cash and cash equivalent 3,261 (33) (33) 33 33 

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents - - - - - 

Total Increase/(Decrease) 3,261 (33) (33) 33 33 

Fair values 

All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 

recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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Note 30: Remuneration of members of the accountable Corporation and senior officers 

Remuneration of members of the accountable Corporation 
 
The number of members of the accountable Corporation, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and  

other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:  

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in respect of members of the accountable  

Corporation.  

Remuneration Band ($) 01 July - 31       
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2016 

1 - 10,000 2 1 

10,001 - 20,000 4 4 

20,001 - 30,000 - 1 

30,001 - 40,000 - 1 

   

            $       $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation 55,955 114,603 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals - - 

Other benefits 15,815 12,284 

The total remuneration of members of the accountable Corporation  71,770 126,887 
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Remuneration of senior officers  

The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable Corporation, whose total fees,       

salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the following bands are:  

Remuneration Band ($) 01 July-31        
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2016 

160,001 - 170,000 - 1 

240,001 - 250,000 - 1 

530,001 - 540,000 1 - 
   

 $ $ 

Base remuneration and superannuation (a) 539,400 402,492 

Annual leave and long service leave accruals - 4,010 

Other Benefit - 473 

The total remuneration of senior officers  539,400 406,975 

Note 31: Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration paid or payable in respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:  

 01 July-31       
December 

2016 

Year Ended 
30 June 

2016 

  $  $ 

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key 
performance indicators. 

44,000 44,000 

Note 31 refers to fees related to the years reported. It will not reflect the expenditure reported in the expenses.  

(a) The amount of base remuneration and superannuation includes redundancy to senior officers. 
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The Corporation consists of a single financial segment as reflected in these financial statements. No further segment reporting 
is required.  

Note 32: Schedule of income and expenses by service 

Note 33: Related Party disclosure 

In addition to remuneration (note 30), the Corporation also makes the following disclosures: 

Glen Ryan (Board Member appointed from 22 September 2015) is a licensed potato grower and has delivered during the 2017  

financial year. Payments for his potatoes have been based upon commercial packout gradings and grower payment rates as they 

apply to all licensed growers in the same pools, in the same year. Specific grower payments have always been deemed            

confidential, therefore the value of grower payments made to Glen Ryan are not disclosed. 

By Statute, the Corporation is required to deduct from growers an Agricultural Produce Commission (“APC”) fee for service and 

remit to the APC. Glen Ryan (Board Member effective from 22 September 2015) is the Chairman and Committee Member of the 

Agricultural Produce Commission – Potato Producers Committee, a subcommittee of the APC. During the year the Corporation  

deducted from growers $88,401 and paid to the APC $88,401. 

Darryl Smith (Board Member) is a licensed potato grower and has delivered during the 2017 financial year. Payments for his pota-

toes have been based upon commercial packout gradings and grower payment rates as they apply to all licensed growers in the 

same pools, in the same year. Specific grower payments have always been deemed confidential, therefore the value of grower 

payments made to Darryl Smith are not disclosed.  

Note 34: Supplementary financial information  

(a) Write-offs 

The Authority consists of a single financial output as reflected in these financial statements. No further segment reporting is        
required.  

 01 July - 31       
December 2016 

Year Ended 30 
June 2016 

  $  $ 

Bad Debts written-off - - 
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3.2 Ministerial Directions 

The Corporation received the following Ministerial direction on 27 March 2009: 

To ensure the domestic market is being adequately supplied with potatoes, growers’ returns are being approved in accordance with 

section 32(1) of the Act and the public is provided with adequate data, the Corporation is directed under section 20A of the Act to: 

1. Fund an independent study conducted by an appropriate qualified person, to determine the level of return to be paid to  

 growers for each pool which will provide a reasonable opportunity for profit from the economically efficient production of     

 potatoes. The report should be updated annually and a copy of this report is to be made available to my office. The            

 information should be quoted when submitting recommendations under section 32(1) of the Act; 

2. Consult with the Potato Merchants Association when determining the quantity of potatoes to be recommended under Section 

 26(2) of  the Act and provide details of any disagreement between the two organisation’s estimations; and 

3. Provide detailed statistical data in the Corporation’s Annual Report of the performance of each marketing pool. 

In accordance with Section 26(2) of the Act, the Corporation was directed under Section 20A to accept the following quantities of 

ware potatoes during domestic marketing pools: 

 12,410 tonnes during Pool 1, 2016-17 
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3.3 Other Financial Disclosures 

There were no capital projects commenced or in construction as at the reporting date. 

 
Capital Works 

Staff Profile 

The Corporation remains committed to ensuring that the talents and resources of employees are utilised to the full and that all     
employees receive fair and equitable treatment. 

 
Employment and Industrial Relations 

 

31 December 
2016 

Year  
Ended  

30 June 2016 

Full time Permanent - 6.0 

Full time Contract - 3.9 

Part time (FTE basis) - 2.2 

Staff total: - 12.1 

   

Board Members (FTE basis)  - 1.0 

Overall total: - 13.1 

Staff Development 

The Corporation has a commitment to the development of its  

employees.  Our strategy is to build a highly skilled, professional 

and fair workplace with the ability to adapt to changing business 

technology and environment. Training requirements are identified 

through an employee professional development plan that is 

based on the outcomes of staff performance evaluation.  

Workers Compensation 

No workers compensation claims were lodged for 2016/17 and no lost time was recorded during the six months to 31 December 2016.  
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3.4 Governance Disclosures 

The Corporation of Western Australia requires all Board members, senior officers and employees to declare any interests in       

existing or proposed contracts between the Corporation and firms of which members, senior officers and employees may have a 

holding, share or related interest, whether directly or indirectly.  

At the date of reporting, two Board members have expressed an interest in contracts other than normal contracts of employment of 

service with the Corporation.  

Further disclosure is made in Note 33 to the Financial Statements. 

 

 
Contracts with Senior Officers 

 

 

 
Insurance Premiums Paid to Indemnify Members of the Board 

An insurance policy has been taken out to indemnify members of the Board and senior staff against any liability incurred under  

Sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Act 1996.  The amount of the run-off insurance premium paid 

was $24,777.50. 
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3.5 Other Legal Requirements 

 
Advertising (Electoral Act 1907, S175ZE) 

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Corporation is required to report on expenditure incurred during the 

period 01 July to 31 December 2016 in relation to advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations, direct 

mail organisations and media advertising organisations. The expenditure totalled $10,746 (ex GST) and comprises the following: 

 

01 July - 31 
December 

2016 

Media Advertising Organisation (Carat Media Services, Starcom Mediavest Group)  59,570 

Advertising Agency (Rare Pty Ltd, HAM Digital Marketing Agency) 7,634 

Market Research Organisation (Fresh Logic)  8,180 

Total 75,384 

 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (Disability Services Act 1993, S2) 

The Corporation is aware of its obligations under the Disability Services Act 1993 and is committed to providing employment        

opportunities, building access and document availability to all persons including those with disabilities. As a regulatory body,      

however, the Corporation does not provide services or organise events for the general public. Public meeting rooms, work stations, 

communications and bathroom facilities are available on the ground floor of the Corporation’s leased premises. 
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Occupational Safety, Health and Injury management performance for the period 
01 July to 31 December 2016. 

Indicator Target 2017 Actual 2017 

Number of fatalities. NIL NIL 

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) incidence rate. NIL NIL 

Lost time injury severity rate. NIL NIL 

Percentage of injured workers returned to work within 
(i) 13 weeks and (ii) 26 weeks N/A N/A 

Percentage of managers and supervisors trained in 
occupational safety, health and injury management 
responsibilities. 

100% 100% 
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Compliance with Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes (Public 

Sector Management Act, 1994, S31(1)) 

1. The Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia has complied with the Public Sector Standards, the Western 
 Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Corporation’s Code of Ethics for staff and Code of Conduct for Board 
 members. 

2. Procedures designed to ensure such compliance have been put in place and appropriate internal assessments conducted 
 to verify that the statement made above is correct. 

3. OPSSC reporting under s31 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994, in the period 01 July to 31 December 2016 was: 

Compliance Issues Significant Action taken to monitor and ensure compliance 

Public Sector Standards -  
WA Public Sector Code of Ethics. 

 None 

Information on the WA Public Sector Code of Ethics is included in the Induction   
Manuals for staff and Board members and is available to staff on the Corporation’s 
intraweb. 

Corporation’s Code of Ethics for staff and 
Code of Conduct for Board members. 

 None 

Information on the Corporation’s Codes are included the Induction Manuals for staff 
and Board members and is available to staff on the Corporation’s computer network. 
All staff and Board members are required to submit Declaration of Interest forms each 
year.  

Public Interest Disclosure. 

 None 
Information on the requirements of the Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 are        
included the Induction Manuals for staff and Board members. 
All staff have intraweb access to detailed internal procedures and guidelines on   
lodging disclosures, investigation, reporting and protecting informants.  

Public Sector Standards - Human  
Resource Management. 

 None 

A specialist HR consultant was engaged to provide advice to the Corporation on   
several matters, including recruitment and reclassification of positions. 

Public Sector Standards – Grievance 
Standard. 

 None 

Information on the Corporation’s Grievance Procedures is included in the Staff        
Induction Manual and is available to staff on the Corporation’s intraweb. 
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Record Keeping Plan (State Records Act 2000, S61) 

The Corporation maintains a structured records system for the management of all hard copy and electronic records, as required  

under section 19 of the State Records Act 2000.  

 

The Corporation completed a comprehensive review of its Recordkeeping Plan, following guidelines provided by the State Records 

Office, and submitted this to the State Records Commission in December 2008 in accordance with section 28 of the State Records 

Act 2000. The Corporation undertook to amend the Plan, taking into account the issues identified in the review report, by 30       

September 2009.  The amended Plan was submitted to the State Records Office on 3 September 2009. 

 

The State Records Commission approved the amended Plan on 7 April 2010, which was required to be reviewed by 7 April 2015 in 

accordance with section 28 of Act. The Corporation has completed an initial review of its Record Keeping Plan and a revised     

Record Keeping Plan is due for submission prior to its closure at the end of 2016. 

 

The State Records Commission separately approved the Corporation’s revised Retention and Disposal Schedule / Authority on 18 

June 2010. 

 

The Staff Induction Manual outlines employees’ roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the Recordkeeping 

Plan.    

 

All public records from the Potato Marketing Corporation of Western Australia relating to activities and functions of the corporation 

have been transferred to the ownership and custody of the Department of Agriculture and Food Western Australia as at 20th       

December 2016. 
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Corruption Prevention 

Information relating to corruption prevention is included in the Corporation’s Staff Induction Manual and is available to staff on the 
Corporation’s computer network. The induction program for staff outlines the risks of corruption and misconduct and the processes 
used to report suspected cases of corruption. 
 
The Code of Conduct for Board members specifies that any information about actual or potentially corrupt or illegal activities must 
be disclosed to the Chairperson or, if necessary, to the Corruption and Crime Commission. The Corporation is committed to         
expanding the scope of its risk management planning to address the risks of corruption and misconduct. 

3.6 Government Policy Requirements 

 
Substantive Equality 

The Corporation is aware of the intent and substance of the Policy Framework for Substantive Equality. It is committed to providing 
its services free from any form of discrimination. 

 
Occupational Safety, Health and Injury Management 

The Corporation is committed to providing a safe and healthy working environment for all employees, and to assisting injured      

employees to return to work as soon as medically appropriate. It has complied with the requirements of the: 

 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984. 

 Code of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector 2007. 

 Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981.  

 Workers’ Compensation Code of Practice (Injury Management) 2005. 
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This commitment is delivered through the Corporation’s Occupational Safety and Health Management System, comprising policies, 

plans and procedures relating to: 

 Injury management. 

 Risk management.  

 Asbestos management. 

 Inspector safety. 

 Forklift safety. 

Information on the Corporations’ Occupational Safety and Health Management System is included in the Staff Induction Manual and 

is available on the Corporation’s intraweb. 

Employees are encouraged to inform the Corporation’s Safety and Health Representative about workplace safety and health      

concerns, who reports and makes recommendations to the Chief Executive Officer.  The Chief Executive Officer takes full            

responsibility for ensuring that action is taken to resolve employees’ safety and health concerns. 

As the Corporation has small workforce with management and employees interacting closely on the Corporation’s business on a 

daily basis, an Occupational Safety and Health Committee is considered unnecessary. 


